© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved.

Emerging Options in the Treatment of Bipolar Disorders

Michael Berk, Jose Segal, Leigh Janet and Merryll Vorster

Department of Psychiatry, University of Melbourne, Geelong, Victoria, Australia

Contents

Abstract	
1. Anticonvulsants	1408
1.1 Lamotrigine	1408
1.2 Topiramate	
1.3 Gabapentin	1409
1.4 Others	
2. Atypical Antipsychotics	1410
2.1 Olanzapine	1410
2.2 Risperidone	1411
2.3 Quetiapine and Ziprasidone	1411
3. Novel Therapeutic Options	1411
3.1 Omega-3 Fatty Acids	1411
3.2 Electroconvulsive Therapy and Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation	1411
3.3 Others	1412
4. Conclusion	1412

Abstract

Bipolar disorder is a common and severe condition, and has a clinical outcome that is frequently sub-optimal. Only a small number of therapeutic options are currently available for the disorder. A growing range of novel therapeutic options for the treatment of bipolar disorder are under investigation. These include the anticonvulsants, atypical antipsychotics and options such as the omega-3 fatty acids and transcranial magnetic stimulation. Of the anticonvulsants, lamotrigine is currently the agent for which the greatest amount of controlled clinical data is accumulating, particularly in the depressed and rapid cycling phases of the illness. Olanzapine is currently the atypical antipsychotic with the largest body of evidence in mania, although data is emerging on other atypical antipsychotics including risperidone and ziprasidone. Data regarding the atypical agents in other phases of the illness are awaited. The options available for this difficult to treat condition is increasing with the new range of agents.

Bipolar disorder is a severe and recurrent disorder, with a lifetime prevalence estimated at 1.6 to 1.8%. The illness is associated with significant morbidity and mortality, and has pervasive effects in most spheres of life.^[1] There are a limited number of standard treatments, including lithium, val-

proic acid (valproate) and carbamazapine, and even these do not have the full range of clinical effects necessary in bipolar disorder.

Of additional concern is that current studies of outcomes in this illness are far from optimal. Tohen et al.^[2] followed 75 patients postmania over a 4-

year period who were receiving standard treatment. Only 28% were in remission, 72% had at least 1 episode of mania or depression, and there was a 4% mortality rate in the study. Keck et al.^[3] studied the course of 134 patients for a year on standard treatment. Syndromal recovery occurred in 48% of the sample and full syndrome resolution only in 26%. Of substantial concern is that functional recovery was present in a mere 24% of these patients.

Suicide rates in patients with bipolar disorder are estimated at 10 to 19%, with a greater risk in males, and in the mixed, psychotic and depressive phases of the disorder. There is clearly an urgent need for additional therapeutic options.

This review summarises data on the newer and emerging therapeutic options for patients with bipolar disorder, which include anticonvulsants, atypical antipyschotics, omega-3 fatty acids, and electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) and transcranial magnetic stimulation. A literature search was conducted on Medline which was augmented by manual searches of key words.

1. Anticonvulsants

1.1 Lamotrigine

Lamotrigine is perhaps the best studied novel anticonvulsant in bipolar disorder. It has a diverse range of mechanisms of action, including inhibition of voltage-dependant sodium channels, inhibition of excitatory amino acids such as glutamate and aspartate, and calcium antagonism. It may also block serotonin 5-HT₃ receptors and act to potentiate dopaminergic transmission.^[4,5]

A chart review study of lamotrigine in patients with treatment-resistant bipolar disorder suggested effectiveness. [6] Lamotrogine was also effective in a nonblind 48-week study of 75 patients with treatment-resistant bipolar disorder. [7] In addition, non-blind data has suggested a role for lamotrigine in rapid cycling bipolar disorder. [8-10] However, in a placebo-controlled study in patients with rapid cycling no significant treatment difference was found where time to intervention was the primary outcome measure. [11] Nevertheless, in this study, sig-

nificantly more patients on lamotrigine with bipolar II disorder were still in the study than those on placebo. 41% of lamotrigine patients versus 26% of placebo patients (p = 0.03) were stable without relapse for 6 months of monotherapy. Frye et al. [12] reported that in a group of patients with predominantly rapid cycling, lamotrigine was superior to both placebo and gabapentin. Walden et al. [13] found an equivalent outcome in patients with rapid cycling in a small (n = 14) study comparing lithium and lamotrigine.

Nonblind studies have suggested that lamotrigine may have an antidepressant effect.[14,15] In a double-blind study of 437 patients with unipolar depression, both lamotrigine 200 mg/day and desipramine 200 mg/day were differentiated from placebo on the Clinical Global Impression Scales (CGI) of Severity of Illness (CGI-S) and of Improvement (CGI-I) but not on the 17-item Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression (HAM-D)^[16] at week 8. In a double-blind, placebo-controlled study of 195 patients with bipolar depression, lamotrigine at doses of 50 and 200 mg/day showed significant efficacy on the Montgomery Åsberg Rating Scale (MADRS). However, the HAM-D scale, which was chosen as the primary outcome measure, did not differentiate between the groups.[17]

Case reports suggesting the use of lamotrigine in refractory mania are available.^[18] A small (n = 30) randomised, controlled trial comparing lamotrigine and lithium in acute hospitalised patients with mania found equivalent efficacy between the 2 treatments.^[19,20] Because of the need for slow dose escalation, lamotrigine is not a practical option for the treatment of mania. Nevertheless, efficacy in the manic phase is of theoretical importance in establishing efficacy in multiple phases of the illness in order to fulfil various definitions of a mood stabiliser.

Lamotrigine has been investigated in related conditions, including schizoaffective disorder, where case reports of efficacy are published,^[21] as well as borderline personality disorder, which is argued by the authors to have some relation to bipolar disorder.^[22]

This increasing body of clinical data suggests that lamotrigine has substantial potential in the therapy of bipolar disorder. The results of longer term maintenance trials are awaited, and will more clearly define the role of this agent.

1.2 Topiramate

Topiramate is an anticonvulsant that augments γ-aminobutyric (GABA)ergic neurotransmission as well as having glutamate antagonist properties. The drug has been a focus of clinical interest in bipolar disorder, not least because it is associated with weight loss. [23] However, of concern is a reported rate of emergence of depression of around 15% in epilepsy trials, and depression is listed as an adverse event in the US package insert in 8% of patients at a dosage of 220 to 400 mg/day and 13.4% of patients receiving 600 to 1000 mg/day. [24] In addition, there are case reports of the emergence of psychotic symptoms in patients with epilepsy treated with topiramate. [25]

There are a number of case reports^[26] and non-blind studies suggesting topiramate may be effective in bipolar disorder. Marcotte^[27] retrospectively reported a benefit in 62% of 58 outpatients. McElroy et al.^[28] in a nonblind study of 54 patients suggested efficacy, particularly in patients with rapid cycling and mania. A nonblind on-off study of 10 patients with mania suggested the drug was effective.^[29] In a randomised, single-blind comparison of topiramate and sustained release bupropion (amfebutamone) added to a mood stabiliser in patients with bipolar depression, the 2 drugs were of comparable efficacy.^[30]

However, the only available controlled data on topiramate in mania are negative and as yet unpublished. This was a recently completed, industry-sponsored, multicentre, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of the safety and efficacy of topiramate in the treatment of acute manic or mixed episodes. The primary outcome measure was improvement in patients with bipolar I disorder on the Young Mania Rating Scale (YMRS). Secondary outcome measures included the Brief

Psychiatric Rating Scale, MADRS, CGI and Global Assessment.

Given the absence of a consistent positive body of data to date, further data from controlled clinical trials are necessary to define the potential clinical role of topiramate in bipolar disorder.

1.3 Gabapentin

Gabapentin has also attracted attention as a potential therapeutic agent in bipolar disorder. Its primary mechanism of action is to increase brain GABA levels in a dose-dependant manner. Importantly, it lacks any propensity to dependence and tolerance, unlike the benzodiazepines. Its attractiveness is increased by the most benign adverse event profile of the newer anticonvulsants.

A number of encouraging nonblind studies with gabapentin have been reported, in indications such as treatment refractory disorder, mania depression, mixed states and rapid cycling.[32-40] However, a placebo-controlled trial of adjunctive therapy with gabapentin 900 to 3600 mg/day in patients with bipolar I disorder who were in either a manic, hypomanic or mixed state has been reported by Pande et al. [41] In this study, the response to placebo (n =59) was significantly greater than that to gabapentin (n = 58) on the YMRS, and no differences between the groups emerged on the HAM-D or any other secondary outcome measures. Similarly, in a double-blind crossover study by Frye and colleagues in patients with refractory mood disorders,[12] the CGI response rates were 52% for lamotrigine, 26% for gabapentin and 23% for placebo. However, no controlled data on gabapentin in maintenance or the depressive phase of the disorder are available. The negative trial results to date do not support a clear role for gabapentin in bipolar disorder.

However, there appears to be accumulating evidence of the efficacy of gabapentin in anxiety disorders. [42]

1.4 Others

A double-blind, placebo-controlled trial suggesting efficacy of phenytoin in combination with

haloperidol in mania has been reported. The authors suggest that efficacy of phenytoin maybe related to inhibition of voltage-gated sodium channels. [43] There are a number of novel anticonvulsants that are likely to be targets for future investigation. The first case reports of utility of tiagabine have appeared in the literature. [44,45] However, a nonblind case series of 8 patients with mania showed no efficacy and significant adverse events. [46] Cases of aggravation of mania [47] and utility with zonisamide in mania in a nonblind case series [48] have been reported. Other novel anticonvulsants such as remacemide may be future targets of investigation.

It may be prudent to note that the mechanism whereby certain anticonvulsants have efficacy in bipolar disorder is poorly understood. In addition, it is unlikely that the mechanisms underpinning efficacy in seizures will overlap with those responsible for efficacy in mood disorders. Anticonvulsants differ substantially in their mechanisms of action, and it would be most unlikely if efficacy in any of the phases of bipolar disorder would turn out to be a class effect of anticonvulsants.

2. Atypical Antipsychotics

There have recently been developments in the use of the new atypical antipsychotic drugs for the treatment of bipolar disorder. These new agents will be individually discussed here and the data supporting their use in dipolar disorder reviewed. The situation is changing so rapidly that even recent reviews of the newer agents have already become dated. [49,50]

2.1 Olanzapine

Olanzapine has recently been approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for use in acute mania. Two double-blind, placebo-controlled trials have appeared in the literature. [51,52] These 2 studies involved patients in the manic, rapid cycling and mixed phases of the illness either with or without psychotic features. According to these 2 studies, efficacy superior to placebo was demonstrated by olanzapine for the treatment of mania. Statistically significant differences be-

tween olanzapine and placebo were demonstrated in week 3 in one trial and week 1 in the other. In these 2 studies response rates were 48.6 and 64.8% for olanzapine versus 24.2 and 42.9% for placebo, respectively. Drop-out rates due to 'lack of efficacy' were 28.6% in the olanzapine group and 47.8% in the placebo group (p = 0.02).

Both trials had a short wash-out period (1 to 4 days). The effect of abrupt medication discontinuation in bipolar illness is documented and this phenomenon could have had a greater effect on the placebo groups than on the active treatment arm of the study.^[53]

There was no significant difference in the treatment of psychotic versus nonpsychotic patients with mania with either olanzapine or placebo in the first study. It has been previously documented that patients with psychotic mania will respond similarly to patients with non-psychotic mania if treated with mood stabilisers.^[54] The results in the second study^[52] showed a high placebo response of 43% and an olanzapine response of 65% on the YMRS.

Olanzapine did not induce depressive symptoms in either study. Only in the second study did olanzapine show a statistically significant improvement in depressive symptoms as measured on the 21-item HAM-D scale (p=0.05). Olanzapine displayed few extrapyramidal adverse effects with results not significantly different to placebo despite the high doses used. This finding is significant given the sensitivity of bipolar patients to the development of these symptoms.^[55]

A further comparative study with olanzapine in mania has also been published. Berk et al.^[56] compared olanzapine with lithium in a small trial of 4 weeks' duration and found no statistically significant difference in efficacy between the 2 agents. To date, no controlled data exist for the use of olanzapine in bipolar depression or maintenance. Rothschild et al.^[57] showed some bipolar patients who were psychotically depressed did respond to olanzapine. Mania induction by olanzapine seems to be very rare but has been documented in isolated cases.^[58-61]

Further study is clearly needed to elucidate the precise role of olanzapine in the treatment of this complex disorder, particularly in the maintenance and depressive phases of the disorder.

2.2 Risperidone

Very little controlled data exist for the use of risperidone in bipolar disorder. The first double-blind controlled trial (Segal et al.^[62]) compared risperidone 6mg daily to lithium and haloperidol in mania. No significant differences between the 3 groups were noted except for the induction of extrapyramidal adverse effects in which risperidone and haloperidol were not statistically significantly different. This suggests that the dose of risperidone may need to be lower in bipolar mood disorder.

Sachs^[63] compared add-on risperidone 1 to 6 mg/day, haloperidol 2 to 12 mg/day or placebo in 158 patients who were receiving either lithium or valproic acid for the management of acute mania. Risperidone was superior to placebo as measured by the YMRS and CGI at end-point (3 weeks) compared with placebo. Tohen et al. [64] and Ghaemi et al.^[65] added risperidone to other mood-stabilising agents and found it to be effective. Ghaemi and Sachs^[66] looked at the 6-month follow-up of risperidone (mean dose 2.75 mg/day) addition to other medications patients with bipolar disorder. They found no mania induction in this nonblind study and 50% of these patients showed improvement. However, there are cases of induction of mania with risperidone.[67-71] Clearly much further study with this agent is needed.

2.3 Quetiapine and Ziprasidone

To date no controlled studies have been published on the use of quetiapine in bipolar illness. A number of nonblind studies have been published. [72-75] In these reports quetiapine seems to have been effective and well tolerated at doses ranging from 40.4 to 425 mg/day. Data from controlled trials are needed.

A 3-week, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of ziprasidone in mania has been published.^[76] Significant differences in the MRS score were re-

ported with ziprasidone (n = 131) versus placebo (n = 64) at all time-points after baseline.

3. Novel Therapeutic Options

3.1 Omega-3 Fatty Acids

Inhibition of neuronal signal transduction systems is a common mechanism amongst mood stabilisers. Omega-3 fatty acids dampen phosphatidyl inositol and arachidonic acid mediated signal transduction. In addition, there is now evidence of impaired phospholipid metabolism and impaired fatty acid-related signal transduction processes in both depression and bipolar disorder.^[77]

In a small (n = 30) 4-month, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial comparing omega-3 fatty acids with olive oil, in addition to treatment as usual, there was a significantly longer period of remission in the omega-3 group.^[78] These data, while preliminary, offer a promising new avenue of investigation in this disorder.

3.2 Electroconvulsive Therapy and Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation

ECT has a long history of utility in bipolar disorder. [79] In addition to unequivocal efficacy in the depressive phase of the disorder, there is extensive evidence of antimanic efficacy. [80] Furthermore, there is some evidence of the efficacy of maintenance ECT (M-ECT), given monthly, in treatment-refractory patients with bipolar disorder. [81,82] Because of logistical constraints and ongoing public concerns regarding ECT, it is an option that remains low in most treatment algorithms.

Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) is a promising research tool with potential therapeutic uses in mood disorders. Early researchers reported transient mood effects on patients receiving this form of treatment for neurological disorders and suggested further investigations. Controlled trials of TMS in major depression suggest that it may be a promising avenue for future investigation in bipolar disorder.^[83,84]

In a 14-day, double-blind trial of 16 patients with mania, a significant improvement in patients

receiving right prefrontal TMS was seen. This may imply laterality opposite to its effect in depression.^[85] Although much remains to be elucidated regarding the mechanism, technique and efficacy of TMS, it appears to be a potentially fruitful candidate for further research.

3.3 Others

Vagus nerve stimulation has shown some promise in depression, including resistant bipolar depression, and maybe another possibility for future research. Tamoxifen, a protein kinase C inhibitor, was studied in a single-blind case series of 7 patients. The mean decrease in Y-MRS scores was 10.29, and 5 of the 7 patients exhibited a >50% decrement in scores. Further controlled data is anticipated. [87]

4. Conclusion

A range of new therapeutic options is under investigation for the treatment of bipolar disorder. Most of these are agents adopted from the armamentarium of other disorders. A poor understanding of the basic pathophysiology of bipolar disorder hampers the search for therapeutic options. Nevertheless, there is a growing number of candidate options. While some of these may not survive the rigours of adequate double-blind, controlled studies, the list of options for this difficult-to-treat condition is certain to grow.

References

- Kessler RC, McGonagle KA, Zhao S, et al. Lifetime and 12 month prevalence of DSM-II-R psychiatric disorders in the United States. Results form the national comorbidity study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1994; 51: 8-19
- Tohen M, Waternaux CM, Tsuang MT. Outcome in mania. A 4-year prospective follow-up of 75 patients utilizing survival analysis. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1990: 47; 1106-11
- Keck Jr PE, McElroy SL, Strakowski SM, et al. 12-month outcome of patients with bipolar disorder following hospitalization for a manic or mixed episode. Am J Psychiatry 1998; 155: 646-52
- Meldrum BD. Update on the mechanism of action of antiepileptic drugs. Epilepsia 1996; 37 Suppl. 6: S4-S11
- Xie X, Hagan RM. Cellular and molecular actions of lamotrigine: possible mechanisms of efficacy in bipolar disorder. Neuropsychobiology 1998; 38: 119-30

- Sporn J, Sachs G. The anticonvulsant lamotrigine in treatmentresistant manic-depressive illness. J Clin Psychopharmacol 1997; 17: 185-9
- Calabrese JR, Bowden CL, McElroy SL, et al. Spectrum of activity of lamotrigine in treatment-refractory bipolar disorder. Am J Psychiatry 1999; 156: 1019-23
- Fatemi SH, Rapport DJ, Calabrese JR, et al. Lamotrigine in rapid-cycling bipolar disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 1997; 58: 522-7
- Bowden CL, Calabrese JR, McElroy SL, et al. The efficacy of lamotrigine in rapid cycling and non-rapid cycling patients with bipolar disorder. Biol Psychiatry 1999; 45: 953-8
- Hamer RM, Simpson PM. The efficacy of lamotrigine in rapid cycling and non-rapid cycling patients with bipolar disorder [letter]. Biol Psychiatry 1999; 46: 1711-2
- Calabrese JR, Suppes T, Bowden CL, et al. A double-blind, placebo-controlled, prophylaxis study of lamotrigine in rapidcycling bipolar disorder. Lamictal 614 Study Group. J Clin Psychiatry 2000; 61: 841-50
- Frye MA, Ketter TA, Kimbrell TA, et al. A placebo-controlled study of lamotrigine and gabapentin monotherapy in refractory mood disorders. J Clin Psychopharmacol 2000; 20: 607-14
- 13. Walden J, Schaerer L, Schloesser S, et al. An open longitudinal study of patients with bipolar rapid cycling treated with lithium or lamotrigine for mood stablization. Bipolar Disord 2000 Dec; 2 (4): 336-9
- Fornaro P, Cultera S, Lunardi G, et al. Clinical effects and plasma levels of lamotrigine in depressed outpatients. Preliminary results from an open trial. Biol Psychiatry 1997; 42 Suppl. 1: 41S
- Kusumakar V, Yatham LN. An open study of lamotrigine in refractory bipolar depression. Psychiatry Res 1997; 72: 145-8
- Londborg P, Cutler N, Cunningham L, et al. Lamotrigine in the treatment of unipolar depression. Presented at the American Psychiatric Association Annual Meeting 1999 May; New Orleans (LA)
- Calabrese JR, Bowden CL, Sachs GS, et al. A double-blind placebo-controlled study of lamotrigine monotherapy in outpatients with bipolar I depression. Lamictal 602 Study Group. J Clin Psychiatry 1999; 60: 79-88
- Koek RJ, Yerevanian BI. Is lamotrigine effective for treatmentrefractory mania? [letter]. Pharmacopsychiatry 1998; 31: 35
- Ichim L, Berk M, Brook S. Lamotrigine compared with lithium in mania: a double-blind randomized controlled trial. Ann Clin Psychiatry 2000; 12: 5-10
- Berk M. Lamotrigine and the treatment of mania in bipolar disorder. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 1999; 9 Suppl. 4: S119-23
- Erfurth A, Walden J, Grunze H. Lamotrigine in the treatment of schizoaffective disorder. Neuropsychobiology 1998; 38: 204-205
- Pinto OC; Akiskal HS. Lamotrigine as a promising approach to borderline personality: an open case series without concurrent DSM-IV major mood disorder. J Affect Disord 1998; 51: 333-43
- Gordon A, Price LH. Mood stabilization and weight loss with topiramate [letter]. Am J Psychiatry 1999 Jun; 156: 6, 968-9
- Langtry HD, Gillis JC, Davis R. Topiramate. A review of its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties and clinical efficacy in the management of epilepsy. Drugs 1997; 54: 752-73
- Khan A, Faught E, Gilliam F, et al. Acute psychotic symptoms induced by topiramate. Seizure 1999; 8: 235-7

- Normann C, Langosch J, Schaerer LO, et al. Treatment of acute mania with topiramate [letter]. Am J Psychiatry 1999 Dec; 156 (12): 2014
- Marcotte D. Use of topiramate, a new anti-epileptic as a mood stabilizer. J Affect Disord 1998 Sep; 50 (2-3): 245-51 50
- McElroy SL, Suppes T, Keck PE, et al. Open-label adjunctive topiramate in the treatment of bipolar disorders. Biol Psychiatry 2000 Jun; 47 (12): 1025-33
- Grunze H, Normann C, Schaefer M, et al. Topiramate shows efficacy against mania in an open study with an off-on design. Eur Psychopharmacol 2000; 10 Suppl. 3: S246
- McIntyre RS, McCann SM, Mancini DA, et al. Randomised single blind comparison of topiramate and buproprion SR added to mood stabiliser in bipolar disorder [abstract]. Acta Neuropsychiatrica 2000; 12: 163
- Prodeedings of the American Psychiatric Association 2000 Annual Meeting 2000 May: Chicago (IL): Syllabus and Proceedings Summary: 304
- Schaffer CB, Schaffer LC. Open maintenance treatment of bipolar disorder spectrum patients who responded to gabapentin augmentation in the acute phase of treatment. J Affect Disord 1999; 55: 237-40
- 33. Perugi G, Toni C, Ruffolo G, et al. Akiskal H Clinical experience using adjunctive gabapentin in treatment-resistant bipolar mixed states. Pharmacopsychiatry 1999; 32: 136-41
- Cabras PL, Hardoy MJ, Hardoy MC, et al. Clinical experience with gabapentin in patients with bipolar or schizoaffective disorder: results of an open-label study. J Clin Psychiatry 1999; 60: 245-8
- Erfurth A, Kammerer C, Grunze H, et al. An open label study of gabapentin in the treatment of acute mania. J Psychiatr Res 1998; 32: 261-4
- McElroy SL, Soutullo CA, Keck Jr PE, et al. A pilot trial of adjunctive gabapentin in the treatment of bipolar disorder. Ann Clin Psychiatry 1997; 9: 99-103
- Ghaemi SN, Katzow JJ, Desai SP, et al. Gabapentin treatment of mood disorders: a preliminary study. J Clin Psychiatry 1998; 59: 426-9
- Knoll J, Stegman K, Suppes T. Clinical experience using gabapentin adjunctively in patients with a history of mania or hypomania. J Affect Disord 1998; 49: 229-33
- Sokolski KN, Green C, Maris DE, et al. Gabapentin as an adjunct to standard mood stabilizers in outpatients with mixed bipolar symptomatology. Ann Clin Psychiatry 1999; 11: 217-22
- Young LT, Robb JC, Hasey GM, et al. Gabapentin as an adjunctive treatment in bipolar disorder. J Affect Disord 1999; 55: 73-7
- Pande AC, Crockatt JG, Janney CA, et al. Gabapentin Bipolar Disorder Study Group. Gabapentin in bipolar disorder: a placebo controlled trial of adjunctive therapy. Bipolar Disord 2000; 2: 249-255
- Pande AC, Davidson JRT, Jefferson JW, et al. Treatment of social phobia with gabapentin: a placebo controlled study. J Clin Psychopharmacol 1999; 19: 341-348
- Mishory A, Yaroslavsky Bersudsky Y, Belmaker RH. Phenytoin as an antimanic anticonvulsant: a controlled study. Am J Psychiatry 2000 Mar; 157 (3): 463-5
- Kaufman KR. Adjunctive tiagabine treatment of psychiatric disorders: three cases. Ann Clin Psychiatry 1998 Dec; 10 (4): 181-4
- Schaffer LC, Schaffer CB. Tiagabine and the treatment of refractory bipolar disorder [letter]. Am J Psychiatry 1999; 156: 2014-5

- Grunze H, Erfurth A, Marcuse A, et al. Tiagabine appears not to be efficacious in the treatment of acute mania. J Clin Psychiatry 1999; 60: 759-62
- Charles CL, Stoesz L, Tollefson G. Zonisamide-induced mania. Psychosomatics 1990; 31: 214-7
- Kanba S, Yagi G, Kamijima K, et al. The first open study of zonisamide, a novel anticonvulsant, shows efficacy in mania. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 1994; 18: 707-15
- Segal J, Walton S, Clark H, et al. Pharmacotherapy of mania: a review. Int J Psychiatry Clin Pract 2000; 4: 171-93
- Soares JC. Recent advances in the treatment of bipolar mania, depression, mixed states and rapid cycling. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 2000; 15: 183-96
- Tohen M, Sanger TM, McElroy SL, et al. Olanzapine versus placebo in the treatment of acute mania. Am J Psychiatry 1999; 156: 702-9
- Tohen M, Jacobs TG, Grundy SL, et al. Efficacy of olanzapine in acute bipolar mania. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2000; 57: 841-9
- Suppes T, Baldessarini RJ, Faedda GL, et al. Risk of recurrence following discontinuation of lithium treatment in bipolar disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1991; 48: 1082-8
- McElroy SL, Keck Jr PE, Stanton SP, et al. A randomized comparison of divalproex oral loading versus haloperidol in the initial treatment of acute psychotic mania. J Clin Psychiatry 1996; 57: 142-6
- Brotman MA, Fergus EL, Post RM, et al. High exposure to neuroleptics in bipolar patients: a retrospective review. J Clin Psychiatry 2000; 61: 68-72
- Berk M, Ichim L, Brook S. Olanzapine compared to lithium in mania: a double blind randomized controlled trial. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 1999; 14: 339-43
- Rothschild AJ, Bates KS, Boehringer KL, et al. Olanzapine response in psychotic depression. J Clin Psychiatry 1999; 60: 116-8
- Lindenmayer JP, Klebanow R. Olanzapine induced manic like syndrome. J Clin Psychiatry 1998; 59: 318-9
- John V, Rapp M, Pies R. Aggression, agitation and mania with olanzapine. Can J Psychiatry 1998; 43: 1054
- London JA. Mania associated with olanzapine. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1998; 37: 135-6
- Fitz-Gerald MJ, Pinkofsky HB, Brannon G, et al. Olanzapine induced mania. Am J Psychiatry 1999; 156: 1114
- Segal J, Berk M, Brook S. Risperidone compared to both lithium and haloperidol in mania: a double blind randomized controlled trial. Clin Neuropharmacol 1998; 21: 176-80
- 63. Sachs G. Safety and efficacy of risperidone vs placebo as addon therapy to mood stabilizers in the treatment of manic phase of bipolar disorder [poster no. 44]. New Clinical Drug Evaluation Unit (NCDEU) 40th Annual Meeting, 2000: Boca Raton (FL)
- Tohen M, Zarate CA, Centamino F, et al. Risperidone in the treatment of mania. J Clin Psychiatry 1996; 57: 249-53
- Ghaemi SN, Sachs GS, Baldassano CF, et al. Acute treatment of bipolar disorder with adjunctive risperidone in outpatients. Can J Psychiatry 1997; 42: 196-9
- Ghaemi SN, Sachs GS. Long term risperidone treatment in bipolar disorder: a six-month follow up. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 1997; 12: 333-8
- Schnierow BJ, Graeber DA. Manic symptoms associated with initiation of risperidone. Am J Psychiatry 1996; 153: 1235-6
- Barkin JS, Pais VM, Gaffney MF. Induction of mania by risperidone resistant to mood stabilizers. J Clin Psychopharmacol 1997; 17: 57-8

- O'Croinin FO, Zibin T, Holt L. Hypomania associated with risperidone. Can J Psychiatry 1995; 40: 51
- Diaz SJ. Mania associated with risperidone use. J Clin Psychiatry 1996; 57: 42
- Koek RJ, Kessler CC. Probable induction of mania by risperidone. J Clin Psychiatry 1996; 57: 174-5
- Sajatovic M, Brescan D, Perez D, et al. Quetiapine fumarate in neuroleptic dependant mood disorders [abstract no. 456].
 American Psychiatric Association Annual Meeting 194; 1999 May 15-20; Washington DC
- Schaller JL. Quetiapine for refractory mania in a child. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1999; 38: 498-499
- Ghaemi SN, Katzow JJ. The use of quetiapine for treatment resistant bipolar disorder: a case series. Ann Clin Psychiatry 2000: 11: 137-140
- Zarate CA, Rothschild A, Fletcher KE, et al. Clinical predictors of acute response with quetiapine in psychotic mood disorders. J Clin Psychiatry 2000; 61: 185-189
- Keck P, Ice K. A 3-week, double-blind, randomized trial of ziprasidone in the acute treatment of mania [poster no. 42]. New Clinical Drug Evaluation Unit (NCDEU) 40th Annual Meeting, 2000: Boca Raton (FL)
- 77. Horrobin DF, Bennett CN. Depression and bipolar disorder: relationships to impaired fatty acid and phospholipid metabolism and to diabetes, cardiovascular disease, immunological abnormalities, cancer, ageing and osteoporosis. Possible candidate genes. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 1999; 60: 217-34
- Stoll AL, Severus WE, Freeman MP, et al. Omega 3 fatty acids in bipolar disorder: a preliminary double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1999; 56: 407-12
- Kalin NH. Management of the depressive component of bipolar disorder. Depress Anxiety 1996; 4: 190-8

- Mukherjee S, Sackeim HA, Schnur DB. Electroconvulsive therapy of acute manic episodes: a review of 50 years' experience. Am J Psychiatry 1994; 151: 169-76
- Vanelle JM, Loo H, Galinowski A, et al. Maintenance ECT in intractable manic-depressive disorders. Convuls Ther 1994; 10: 195-205
- Rabheru K, Persad E. A review of continuation and maintenance electroconvulsive therapy. Can J Psychiatry 1997; 42: 476-84
- Loo C, Mitchell P, Sachdev P, et al. Double blind controled investigation of transcranial magnetic stimulation for the treatment of resistant major depression. Am J Psychiatry 1999; 156: 946-48
- Klein E, Kreinin I, Christykov A, et al. Theraeutic efficacy of right prefrontal slow repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in major depression: A double blind controlled study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1999; 56: 315-20
- Grisaru N, Chudakov B, Yaroslavsky Y, et al. Transcranial magnetic stimulation in mania: a controlled study. Am J Psychiatry 1998; 155: 1608-10
- Rush AJ, George MS, Sackeim HA, et al. Vagus nerve stimulation (VNS) for treatment-resistant depressions: a multicenter study. Biol Psychiatry 2000; 47: 276-86
- 87. Bebchuk JM, Arfken CL, Dolan-Manji S, et al. A preliminary investigation of a protein kinase C inhibitor in the treatment of acute mania. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2000; 57: 95-7

Correspondence and offprints: Dr *Michael Berk*, Department of Psychiatry, University of Melbourne, Swanston Centre, P.O. Box 281, Geelong, Victoria, 3220, Australia.

E-mail: mikebe@barwonhealth.org.au